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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE STATE OF OREGON

FOR THE COLINTY OF MARION

GARY SIMS,

Plaintiff,
V

STATE OF OREGON, DEPARTMENT
CORRECTIONS,

Case No.:

COMPLAINT

Violations of Title VII of the Civil
Rights Act,42 U.S.C. $ 2000e-3; ORS
659A.030 and ORS 659A.203.

NOT SUBJECT TO MANDATORY
ARBITRATION

Claim for $902,000

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Defendant.

INTRODUCTION

Gary Sims was hired as the Administrator of the Department of Corrections ("DOC")

Office of Diversity and Inclusion (the "D&I Office"). In that capacity, Mr. Sims was

initially recognized by his superiors for advancing the D&I Office's mission "to a level it

[had] never seen before" with "little employee or financial resources." Part of Mr. Sims'

responsibility as the D&I Office's Administrator was to process complaints of discrimination

by DOC staff and inmates. Another part of his duties was to improve relations between the

DOC and Oregon's Native American tribes.

Consistent with his dedication to the purported mission of the D&I Offrce to

eliminate persistent discrimination at the DOC, Mr. Sims went beyond simply shuttling
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employee and inmate complaints of discrimination up the processing line. Rather, Mr. Sims

assisted staff and inmates in advancing their discrimination claims and advocated on their

behalf. Likewise, rather than paying lip service to improving relations with the Native

American tribes, Mr. Sims advanced the government-to-government relations between the

DOC and tribes in a way that garnered the support and praise of the tribes he worked with.

However, Mr. Sims' superiors were not so enthusiastic, and they balked at his efforts.

Initially, their feedback was limited to commenting that Mr. Sims should focus his efforts on

"DOC staff' and internal efforts to train staff on diversity issues. However, when Mr. Sims

pushed back, his superiors retaliatory efforts to limit his influence and effectiveness

intensified even further. Ultimately, this included terminating him under the pretext that the

D&I Office (and his position) had to be eliminated due to budgetary shorlfalls. Mr. Sims

seeks vindication of the DOC's unlawful retaliation against him.

PARTIES

1.

Plaintiff Gary Sims is an African-American individual who resides in Marion

County, Oregon. Mr. Sims was formerly employed by Defendant as its Administrator of the

D&I Offrce.

2.

Defendant Oregon Department of Corrections is an executive agency of the State of

Oregon. At all times material, DOC acted by and through its agents and employees, who

were acting in the course and scope of their employment and in furtherance of Defendant's

interests.
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ADMISTRATIVE EXHAUSTION

Mr. Sims notified the DOC of his intent to file a civil action for vindication of his

rights on or about May 7,2018. Mr. Sims submitted his formal notice of tort claim to the

State's Risk Management Division on or about May 15, 2018.

4.

Mr. Sims filed a Complaint with the Oregon Bureau of Labor and Industries

("BOLI") Civil Rights Division on or about August 2,2018. Mr. Sims requested that the

complaint be dual filed with the EEOC.

5.

BOLI transfened Mr. Sims claim to the EEOC for processing on or about August 8,

2018

6.

On or about May 13, 2019, the United State Department of Justice issued Mr. Sims a

notice of righrto-sue. Mr. Sims received that notice of righrto-sue on May 20,2019.

7.

Mr. Sims has filed this complaint within the ninety (90) day deadline of the issuance

and his receipt of the right-to-sue notice.

FACTS

8.

Mr. Sims was originally hired by DOC as its Religious Services Administrator. DOC

subsequently promoted Mr. Sims to the position of Assistant Director of Human Resources.

In2013, DOC promoted Mr. Sims into the role of Administrator of the D&I Office.
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9.

The DOC established the D&I Office in order to address racial and other disparities in

the DOC's employment practices as well as in its provision of services to offenders. Its purpose

included providing offenders and employees with an avenue to internally raise concerns of

discrimination and to correct those disparities.

10.

In accepting the position of D&I Administrator, Mr. Sims was responsible for

building the D&I Office from the ground up. The DOC gave Mr, Sims no job description

and provided him with insufficient staffing and resources to reasonably meet the need for

services. Nonetheless, Mr. Sims was recognized by his superiors for his "exceptional

performance."

11.

For example, on November 78,2016, Daryl Borello, the DOC's Assistant Director of

Human Services, stated that Mr. Sims had "advanced the agency D&I section to a level it has

never seen before" and that he had "done this with little employee or financial resources."

Mr. Borello also stated that "this is an accomplishment to be proud of' and that he was

"excited" to see where Mr. Sims would take the D&I Office in2017.

t2.

Other stakeholders also recognized Mr. Sims'work, describing him as "extremely

effective" and recognizingthathe had provided "hope to make things better for all staff and

inmates."
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13.

On May 3,2076, Governor Kate Brown issued Executive Order 16-09. That

Executive Order broadly directed all Agency Directors and Administrators to make concrete

advances in their agency's efforts to promote diversity and inclusion of ethnic minorities.

The DOC was required to meet a number of specific obligations under Executive Order 16-

09, including communicating to all of its employees the "important role of the Affirmative

Action Representative in responding to employees' concerns of discrimination in the areas of

hiring, retention, promotion, and career development."

14.

Consistent with Executive Order 16-09, the DOC adopted the2017-2019 Affirmative

Action Plan. In adopting the Plan, DOC Director Colette Peters reaffirmed the DOC's

"dedication to fulfilling the goals and objectives outlined within the2017-2019 Affirmative

Action Plan."

15.

One of the goals of that Plan was to improve the relationship between the DOC and

the Native American tribal communities in Oregon. The DOC noted that the Director had

"identified the need for advancement of Government to Government relations with the

federally and non-federally recognized tribes" and it assigned the duties of Tribal Liaison

and the State Tribal Public Safety Cluster to Mr. Sims.

16.

As D&I Administrator, Mr. Sims observed that the DOC had neglected the concerns

of its employees regarding workplace discrimination. For example, the DOC juxtaposed a

photograph of an African American child immediately next to a photograph of a gorilla in a
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religious services pamphlet that was published state-wide. This matter was repofied to Mr.

Sims by staff who were concerned by the racist stereotyping, and he asked that Director

Colette Peters issue an apology to staff. While DOC took down the offending images, an

apology was never issued. Mr. Sims also observed that the DOC had neglected the needs

and concerns about the correctional system raised by Native Americans and the tribes.

t7.

Based on those observations, Mr. Sims focused his efforts and his staff resources to

improving those areas. Mr. Sims specifically assisted DOC employees and inmates in the

filing and processing of discrimination complaints against the DOC, and advocated on their

behalf in advancing their complaints of discrimination. Mr. Sims also took steps to

significantly improve the government to government relationship between the DOC and

Indian tribes.

18.

DOC staff-level employees and the tribes responded positively to Mr. Sims effofts,

noting that he was changing DOC's culture to be more inclusive and responsive.

t9.

However, DOC leadership did not respond as enthusiastically. Towards the end of

2016, Mr. Borello hinted at his resistance to Mr. Sims' efforts when he suggested that Mr.

Sims should "focus" his efforts "on ODOC staff."

20.

In April, 2017 Mr. Sims had a meeting with Mr. Borello in which Mr. Borello

admonished Mr. Sims for his work efforts. Specifically, Mr. Borello was concerned with

conversations that Mr. Sims had had with other DOC managers and "the potential negative
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PAGE 7 _ COMPLAINT

impact to the D&I office's reputation." Mr. Borello noted his concern that those

conversations showed that "D&I was primarily working with various employees to file

discrimination complaints against DOC and its managers and extensively working with the

Native American external community rather than focusing on improving the culture and

awareness of DOC's employees related to the areas of diversity and inclusion, such as

focusing on training, etc."

2T,

Mr. Sims responded by letting Mr. Borello know that he would continue to fulfill his

duties as DOC's Affirmative Action Representative, including his responsibilities for

responding to employee concerns about discrimination within the DOC and advising

employees and inmates regarding the complaint process. Mr. Sims also reiterated his

commitment to continue his work with external stakeholders, including the Indian tribes,

because he understood that minority communities throughout the State feel that the DOC had

been disengaged with the minority public.

22.

John Nees, the DOC Director of Human Resources also voiced his opposition to Mr.

Sims efforts on behalf of the DOC employees and inmates. Mr. Nees told Mr. Sims to stop

assisting staff to file complaints against the agency" because, according to Mr. Nees, it "was

a risk to the agency." Mr. Nees threatened to report Mr. Sims to the DOC Director Colette

Peters if he did not comply.

23.

In May, 2017, Mr. Sims had a meeting with Director Peters and Mr. Borello. At that

meeting, Director Peters reprimanded Mr. Sims for assisting and responding to employees'
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PAGE 8 _ COMPLAINT

complaints of discrimination. She instructed Mr. Sims in no uncertain terms to cease, and

that from there he was to simply serve in an administrative capacity with regard to employee

complaints, forwarding them to the DOC's Director of Human Resources.

24.

Shortly after that meeting, Mr. Sims drafted a Memorandum of Agreement ("MOA")

in order to document Director Peters' directive because he was concerned that it violated

Executive Order 16-09. Mr. Sims wanted to confirm that the D&I Office under Director

Peters was to play only an administrative role in forwarding complaints of discrimination on

to the appropriate department and provide emotional support to the complainant. Mr. Sims

sent it to Mr. Burello for his comment and signature, but received no response.

25.

Shortly after the May meeting, Mr. Borello issued Mr. Sims a "Work Improvement

Plan." That Plan was to last from June 1, 2017 tI'rough August 37,2017, and required that

Mr. Sims meet with Mr. Borello twice monthly, that he provide written feedback on his

progress, and that Director Peters, Mr. Borello and Mr. Sims would meet at least three times

during the Plan's ninety day period to discuss Mr. Sims'performance and progress. Director

Peters never complied with the requirements of that Plan to meet with Mr. Sims and discuss

his progress.

26.

The Performance Improvement Plan noted two areas of concern that particularly

troubled Mr. Sims. The first was Mr. Burello's listed concern that Mr. Sims spent too much

time away from the office engaging with external stakeholders. The second was that Mr.

Sims was spending time responding to employee complaints of discrimination. Under the
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Performance Improvement Plan, Mr. Sims was not to engage in either activity.

27.

As Mr. Sims understood them, both of those directives violated the DOC's

Affirmative Action Plan and Executive Order 16-09.

28.

On or about September,2077, Mr. Sims followed up on the MOA that he had

previously sent to Mr. Burello in May with an email confirming that Mr. Sims was to merely

forward employee complaints to HR and to provide the complainants emotional support.

Mr. Burello never responded to that email.

29.

In October 2017, an AFSCME union representative contacted Mr. Sims directly

about the DOC's process with respect to disability related issues. The representative had

been previously dissatisfied with the response he had gotten from other DOC sources, and

noted that under DOC Policy 20.5.16, as the Affirmative Action Officer, Mr. Sims was also

the ADA Coordinator.

30.

In light of the directive given to him by Mr. Borello and Director Peters about

responding to staff concerns of discrimination, Mr. Sims emailed Mr. Borello as follows:

"According to the DOC policy 20.5.16, [the AFSCME representative] is correct.

Nevertheless, I'll follow your recommendation. Please advise."

31.

Despite that policy's clear directive, Mr. Borello instructed Mr. Sims that "there is no

parl of the ADA process that falls within D&I." Mr. Sims was concerned about Mr.
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Borello's statement because it contradicted the DOC's policy.

32.

On or about November 28,2017, Mr. Borello informed Mr. Sims that a

decision had been made to permanently close the DOC's D&I Office and transfer its duties

to the Office of Workforce Planning. Mr. Borello asserted that the permanent closure was

necessary due to budget concerns, despite the fact that the DOC had for several years funded

the Office of Diversity and Inclusion while operating with a budget deficit, and contrary to

Mr. Borello's previously expressed imporlance of the D&I Office and consistently expressed

appreciation of the value of Mr. Sims'work. During the closing of the D&I Office, Mr.

Borello told Mr. Sims, in front of two other DOC employees, that he had "nothing coming"

from the DOC and that he should look for work in another State.

33.

The DOC eliminated Mr. Sims position and failed to offer him an alternative

position. The DOC also did not provide Mr. Sims with the opportunity to continue working

on the same important issues within the DOC's Human Resources Department.

34.

Mr. Sims was targeted for elimination based on his work assisting and advocating for

employees and inmates who were pursuing discrimination claims against the DOC and his

efforts to oppose and correct unlawful discrimination within the DOC directed at inmates

and employees.

35.

As a result of DOC's retaliation against Mr. Sims described above, he has suffered

economic damages in the form of lost earnings and benefits in an amount to be specifically
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proven attrial, but currently estimated to be $552,000. This includes $442,000 in lost past

and future wages, $60,000 in lowered PERS benefits, and $50,000 from the loss of equity in

a house that he was unable to make payments on as a direct result of the DOC's unlawful

termination. In addition, Mr. Sims has suffered non-economic damages in the amount of

$350,000.

36.

Mr. Sims has mitigated his damages.

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF

First Claim for Relief
(Violation of ORS 659A.030 - Retaliation)

37.

Plaintiff Gary Sims realleges the allegations set forth above, and in addition alleges

the following.

38.

As set fbrth above, Mr. Sims engaged in protected activity by opposing unlawtul

discrimination of employees and inmates by assisting and advocating for them in their

pursuit of discrimination claims against the DOC.

39.

As set forth above, Defendant was aware of Mr. Sims'protected activity and

retaliated against him on account of that protected activity by eliminating his position.

40.

Defendant's retaliation would dissuade a reasonable person in Mr. Sims'

circumstances from engaging in protected activity.
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41.

Mr. Sims has suffered economic damages in an amount to be specifically proven at

trial, but curently estimated to be $552,000. In addition, Mr. Sims has suffered non-

economic damages in the amount of $350,000.

42.

Mr. Sims is entitled to his reasonable attorney fees under ORS 6594.885.

Second Claim for Relief
(Violation of 42 U.S.C. $ 2000e-3 - Retaliation)

43

Plaintiff Gary Sims realleges the allegations set forth above, and in addition alleges

the following.

44,

As set forth above, Mr. Sims engaged in protected activity by opposing unlawful

discrimination of employees and inmates by assisting and advocating for them in their

pursuit of discrimination claims against the DOC.

45.

As set forth above, Defendant was aware of Mr. Sims'protected activity and

retaliated against him on account of that protected activity by eliminating his position.

46.

Defendant's retaliation would dissuade a reasonable person in Mr. Sims'

circumstances from engaging in protected activity.

47.

As a result of this retaliation, Mr. Sims has suffered economic damages in an amount
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to be specifically proven attrial, but currently estimated to be $552,000. In addition, Mr.

Sims has suffered non-economic damages in the amount of $350,000.

48.

Mr. Sims is entitled to his reasonable attorney fees under 42 U.S.C. $$ 1981a and

2000e-5.

Third Claim for Relief
(Violation of ORS 659A.203)

49.

Plaintiff Gary Sims realleges the allegations set forth above, and in addition alleges

the following.

50.

As set forth above, Mr. Sims engaged in protected activity by reporting evidence that

he reasonably believed in good faith constituted a violation of federal andlor state law, rules

or regulations prohibiting discrimination within the DOC.

51.

As set forth above, Defendant was aware of Mr. Sims'protected activities and

retaliated against him on account of those protected activities by eliminating his position.

52.

As a result of this retaliation, Mr. Sims has suffered economic damages in an amount

to be specifically proven attrial, but currently estimated to be $552,000. In addition, Mr.

Sims has suffered non-economic damages in the amount of $350,000.

53.

Mr. Sims is entitled to his reasonable attorney fees under ORS 6594.885.
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Gary Sims prays for relief as follows:

1. For judgment in his favor in the amount of $902,000;

2. For his reasonable attorney fees;

3. For his reasonable costs incurred herein;

4. For prejudgment interest to be determined at the time of trial;

5. For such other relief as the Court deems just and proper.

DATED tfri, &uy of Augus t,2019.

HAGLLIND KELLEY LLP

By: t
Lundberg, OSB No. 941084

clundberq@hk-law.com
Matthew E. Malmsheimer, OSB No. 033847
mrnalmsheimer(g) hk- I aw. com
200 SW Market Street, Ste.l777
Portland OR 97201
(s03) 22s-0777
Attorneys for Plaintiff
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